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. INTRODUCTION

On or about November 21 2022 th1s action was brought by Mayor and City Counc11 of
Baltlmore (herelnafter “Plamtlff ) against Pthp Morris USA, Inc., Altna Group, R.J. Reynolds
Toha'cco Company, British-American Tobacco P.L.C., Liggett Group'LLC, and The George J.
Falter Company. (hereinafter “Defendanrs”) The majority “of Defendants -advertise and. sell
cigarettes in the United ‘States. The George‘] . Falter Compa_ny'adverti‘ses', distribu_tes, and,,sells
lci'garettes in Baltimore City. R :

In Count I through Count V Plalntlff alleges that Defendants v1olate Baltimore City Health -
Code §§ 7- 606 7- 607 7- 608, 7- 609 and 7-702. They assert that Defendants knowmgly choose _

to manufacture mgarettes with non-blodegradable ﬁlters desplte the harm 01garette filter litter -

causes to the envn'onment. According to the Complalnt, ‘an exorbltant amount of 01garette filters
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are littered along sidewalks, streets, waterways, and other public areas.” -Complaint, Mayor and
Cityl Council of Baltimore . Phillip Morris, US4, Inc., et al., Case No.’ 24-C-22-004904
(hereinafter “Complaint™) at 13. Plaintiff also claims the litter lowered property values leadingl to

loss of income from property and sales tax. Jd..

In Counts .VII (Stf_ict Liability for Design Defect) and VIII (Ngegligént Desigii Defectj,
Plaintiff claims the Defendants design, mamifa_cture, aiid sell filtered cigarettes, kno.wing.the lorig-'
las_ting negative impact thg:wcomponents of the ﬁlteis have on.the environment and the iate at which
émokers litter these filters. - Complaint at 14-15. Plaintiff further explains that cigaret'te-
manufactures deliberately use cellulose acetate-based, filters, which eire. non—biddegradable,

because their customers preferred the “draw of t}ie plagtic filter.” (f(;mplaint at 15. The
‘Defendants’ filter of choice lengthens the amount of timé a cigarette‘ filter will remain in the
enviréniiient,, and Defeiidants “knew - tIiat the plastic filtei'_ gave the a;ipearance of
biodegradability.” Plaiiltiﬁ claims that smok’ers litter filter»s on the ground because they “are under
ther impression that the wrappers and ﬁlteis will decompose in the enviiqnmgn > Complaint at 15

-16.

. Count X (Strict Liability Failure to Warn) and Count XI (Negligent Failure to Warn) eillege
that despite knowing that cigarette smokers will litter cigarette filters on the grdund, due to their
appearance, Defendants failed to educate the public about thé_ danger discard'ed.‘ cigareite filters
pose to the environment. Pia_intiff further asserts that Defendants misrepresented to. Bal_timore. City_
residents that the trile compoundé of the cigarette filters are toxic to ﬂie environme‘nt.v Complaint
at 1-5-16. ;‘[I]nstead of addigssing the.problem at tile source, Defendénts directed modest efforts to
“largely .ineffecti.ver ariti—.litte'.ring campaigpsi” Complaint at 16. Iri acidition, Plaintiff faults )

Defendants for failing to include warnings on cigarette packages that-alert consumers that cigarette
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filters are toxic to the environment and to inform the.consumers that they “must properly dispose

of-them.”" Complaint at 16.

 ‘Plaintiff claims that cigarette filter litter costs millions of doliars to cleanup. Complaint at
18. Plaintiff uses resources, such as the Trash Wheel Jocated iri Balfiroré City, to clean the streets,w
storm drains, sewers, and watet. Since The Trash Whee‘l initiated operations in 2014, it has

collected 11,935,098 cigarette fiiters and Plaintiff estimates that they have paid $32 million “on

| collecting and disposing litter into landfills.” Id..

Counts X (Public Nuisance) and Count VI (Continuing Trespass) will be discussed below.

- PROCEDURA‘ﬁ HISTORY

On February 3 2023, Defendant Ph111p MOI'I‘IS USA Inc ﬁled a Not1ce of F111ng of

Removal to the Umted States Dlstrlct Court of Maryland On January 19 2024 the Honorable

~ Judge Julie R. Rubin s1gned an Order remandmg thlS case to the Circuit Court for Baltlmore C1ty

On February 5, 2024 a Stlpulatlon of Drsmlssal was entered for Defendant Altrla Group, Inc On
March 19, 2024 Defendant Br1t1sh Amerlcan Tobacco P L C ﬁled a Mot1on to DlSIIllSS the
Complalnt for lack of personal Jurlsdlctlon The same day, Defendants Ph111p Morrls USA Inc.;

R.I. Reynolds Tobacco Company, L1ggett Group, LLC and The George L. Falter Company Jomtly
filed a Motion to Dlsmlss for fallure to state a claim. On May 2 2024, a Stlpulatlon of Dismissal

was entered against British American Tobaeco“'COInpany. On May 10, 2024, Plaintiff filed an

: Opposition fo.Certain Defendants’ Joint Motion to Dismiss. On July 17, 2024, there was a hearing

on Defendants.Motion to Dismiss. The Court gave. counsel thirty days .to-file a-supplemental

argument. ©




. On November 5, 2024, Defendants filed Notice of Supplemental Authority in Support of

Motion to Dismiss for Failure to State a Clajm. On November 14, 2024, Plaintiff filed a Response

to Defendant’s Notice of Supplemental Authority. -On November 15, 2025, Defendants filed an

- Opposition to Plaintiff’s Motion for Leave to file Memorandum in Support of Opposition to Notice

of Supplemental Authority. On March 31, 2025, Defendants filed Notice of Certified Public

Nuisance questions to be decided by the Supreme Court of Maryland.

This Order will address the Certain Defendants’ Joint Motion to Dismiss for Failure to

State a Claim filed on May 10, 2024, premised on the following issues before this court:

D
2)
;.
4
5‘)
6)
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Whether Plaintiff’s claims are preempted by State and Federal law

Whether the Clty ] htterlng claims fa11 |

Whether the City’s tort claims are barred by the Master Settlement Agreement
Whether the C1ty s tort clarms are barred by the statute of 11m1tat10ns | |
Whether the City has adequately pled proxrmate causation

Whether the C1ty has stated a claim for contmumg trespass

Whether the C1ty hae stated a claim for design defect (Counts VII and VIII)

Whether the C1ty has stated a cla1m for fallure to warn (Counts X and XI)

’Whether the City has stated a cla1m for pubhc nuisance (Count IX).

LEGAL STANDARD

Maryland Rule 2-322(b)(2) permits a defendant to seek dismissal of a complaint if it “fails

to state a claim upon which' relief can be granted.” Pursuant to Maryland Rule 2-322(c), the court

| may grant a motion to dismiss for failure to state a claim. While generally confining its analysis

to the “four corners of the complaint and its incorporated supporting exhibits,” if any, the trial
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court may grant a motion “only if the allegations and permissible inferences, if true, would not
afford relief to the plaintiff, i.e., the allegations do not state a cause of'action for which relief may

be granted.” Floyd v. Mayor and City Council of Baltimore, 463 Md. 226, 241 (2019).
ANALYSIS

1. Whether Plaintiff’s claims are preempted by state and federal law

a.. State Law

' Defendants argue that Plaintifl‘ ’s Complaint seeks to “dictate cigarette design and labeling‘
and punish Defendants for the sale Aof products that both the state and. federal government have
concluded may he' sold in their current form without interference from local government.” Motion
to Dismlss, Mayor and City Council of Baltimore v. Phil]ip Morris USA, Inc., et al. , Case No. 24-
C-22-004904 (hereinafter “Motion to Dlsmiss”) at 6. Defendants assert that Maryland Code,
Business Regulation § 16-602 preempts Plaintiff’s claims relatmg to the desrgn of cigarette filters.
They further assert that the Complaint attempts to regulate cigarette filter desrgn because they are
not biodegradable.

Maryland laws’ ability to preempt local law has prev1ously been addressed by a Maryland
court. Altadzs US.A., Inc. et al. v. Prince George's County, 431 Md. 307 308 (2013). In Altadis,
Petitioners challenged the validity of two Prmce George s County ordmances regulating the
packaging, sale, or other distribution of 01gars Those ordlnances proh1b1ted the sale, d1str1but10n
or gift, by a retaller, wholesaler, or the1r agent or employee, of individual or “unpackaged” cigars.
Id |

The Court explamed that “Maryland law may preempt local law in one of three ways: 1.
preemptlon by conﬂlct 2. express preempt1on or 3. implied preempt1on ”? Implred preemption or

preemptlon by occupatlon, isthe pr1nc1ple that the General Assembly may occupy a particular field
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so extensively as to preclude’local legislation. The defendant in Altadis contended that state law

impliedly preempts local laws purporting to regulate the packaging and sale of tobacco products.

Id. at 311.

Unlike the county government conduct in Altadis, Plaintiff has not enacted any new
legislation or ordinances attempting to regulate the sale, manufacture, or distribution of cigarettes.
Plaintiff’s eleven (11) count Complaint is grounded in the follpwing criminal and civil causes of
action: |

. a ‘Count I: Violation of the Maryland Illegal Dumping ﬁnd.Lit.ter Control Léw, Mb.

CODE AN, CRiv. Law §10-110 |

b. Counts II, III, IV, and V: Violations of the Baltimore City Code §§ 7-606 and 7-.
607, 7-608, 7-609, and 7-702

c¢. Count VI: C;)ntinuingn ?respass .

d. Count VII: Strict Liability for Design Defect

e. Count VIII: Negligent Design Defecf |

f. Count IX: Public Nuisance

g. Count X: Strict Liability- Failure to Warn |

h. Count XI: Negligent Failure to Warn

Further, the Maryland Code prohibits manufacturing, selling, or offering for sale cigarettes
unless they have been tested in.éccordance with testing fnefhod and meet performance standardg
in the statute. MD. CODE, BUSINESS REGULATION § 16-602. These standards prlimarily address
fire prevention and safety,' not environmental concerns. Tit1¢ 16 regulates business licenses,
tobacco product vending machin_es, the tobécco product manufacturers escrow act, escrow

H

requirements, and fire safety performance standards. The statute does not_.addresé environmental
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standards, nor does it establish authority of a state agency to address environmental concerns or
standards. There. is simply no evidencethat the state. leg’islature has acted with such force in the
area of crgarette ﬁlters and the env1ronment that mamfests an intent by the State to occupy the
entire field. Maryland courts have prevrously ruled on the issue of preemptron Fogle v. H&G
" Restaurant, Inc. et. al 337 Md 441 (2005) In Fogle the Supreme Court of Maryland dechned to
find that the regulatlon regardrng smokmg in the workplace was -preempted by . the General
Assembly, b‘ecause ‘it has not regulated smoklng in a so all- encompassmg a fashlon as to suggest
that it meant to reserve for 1tself for direct legrslatrve action all regulatlon of smokmg ” Id. at 464
Th1s Court ﬁnds that the Complarnt is not preempted by State law as Plamtlff does not seek
to create new laws through this Complalnt and further the statute relled upon does not regulate
envuonmental standards or establish authorrty of a state agency to do so.
b Federal Law
Defendants contend Plalntlff ’s actlons are preempted by The Family Smokmg Prevention
and Tobacco Control Actof 2009, 21 U S.C. § 387 (heremafter “Tobacco Control Act”) and the
F ederal Clgarette Labehng and Advertlslng Act .
The Tobacco Control Act states:
-Except as provided in paragraph (2)(A) nothing in this chapter, or
rules promulgated under this chapter, shall be construed to limit the -
authority of a Federal agency (1nclud1ng the Armed Forces), a State
or political subdivision of a State, or the governmerit of an Indian -
“tribe to enact, adopt, promulgate, and enforce any law, rule,
_regulation, or other measure with respect to tobacco products that is-.
in addition to, or more stringent than, requirements established*
"under this chapter, - including a law, rule, régulation, or other
measure relating to or prohibiting the sale, distribution, possession,
exposure to. access to, -advertising and promotion of, or use of

tobacco products by individuals of" any age..

21USC. § 387p (a)(l)



~ The Tobacco Control Act further states:
“No State or political subd1v1s1on of a State may establish or continue
in effect with respect to a tobacco product any requirement which is
- different from, or in addition to, any requirement -under the
provisions of this chapter relating to tobacco product standards,

~ premarket review, adulteration, misbranding, labeling, registration, |
good manufacturlng standards or modlﬁed risk tobacco products.

21 U. s C. § 387p (a)(2)(A) |
In hght of the above provisions, Defendants assert Plamtlff ’s clarms are vpreempted by
federal law. However Plalntlff does not seek to alter the current de51gn or label on c1garettes ThlS
| Complamt does not estabhsh a new requlrement it seeks compensatory damages for losses, past |
‘ present and future for damage to Baltrmore City’, s 1nfrastructure land, and natural resources,
1nclud1ng the economic impact to Baltimore City from loss of envrronmental health Plalntlff also -
seeks equltable relief, cr1m1nal penalties including ﬁnes for vrolatlons of the Annotated Code and
Baltlmore Crty Code, pumtlve damages and 1n3unct1ve rehef inthe form of court orders mandatmg .
'the 1mmed1ate and complete abatement and remedlatlon of all Baltlmore C1ty property damaged
: by clgarett_e litter, and disgorgement of profits. The Complarnt ﬁ,lrther seeks Plaintiff’s attorneys |
fees and costs of suit. Complaint at 46-47. There simply— is no evidence that"this Complaint seeks
to regulate the manufacture distribution, labelmg, or de31gn of 01garette ﬁlters |
Although the Tobacco Control Act precludes a state from estabhshmg or contrnumg any
requirement that is dlfferent from those establrshed by the Tobacco Control Act related to tobacco
Standards, premarket review,ula_heling, letc., thevl)laintlff’s clairhs"address the cost Baltimore City
“incurs as a result of the. non-biodegradable ﬁlters used by-Defendants Plamtlﬁ challenges the
cigarette filter, because it allegedly contamrnates the C1ty s sorl and lltters the Clty of Baltimore’s |

property and water. The Tobacco Control Act does not address env1ronmental claims, nor does it

preclude state or local claims arising out of current product standards.
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Defendants also contend that' Count X (Strict Liability Failure to Warn) and Count XI
(Negligent Failure to Warn).of the Complaint are preempted by,the Federal Cigarette Labeling and
Advertrsrng Act 15 U.S.C: § 1331. The purpose of the Act is as follows

[to] estabhsh a comprehensrve Federal Program to deal w1th
~ cigarette labeling and advertising with respect:to any relationship
between smoking and health, whereby (1) the public may be
adequately-informed about any adverse health effects of cigarette
smoking. by the inclusion of warning notices on each package of
cigarettes and in each advertisement of cigarettes; and (2) commerce
- and the national economy may.be (A) protected to the maximum
extent consistent with this declared policy and (B) not-impeded by
_diverse, . nonuniform, .and confusing- -cigarette labeling and
advertising regulations with respect to any relationship between
smoking and health. ‘

15 U S. C § 1331
Counts X and XI of the Complalnt do not mentlon the warnmg labels on c1garette
packages or advertlsements Rather Count X (Strrct L1ab111ty Fallure to Warn) states |

Defendants and each of them were requlred to issue adequate
" warnings to Baltimore City, the public, consumers, and public -
officials of the reasonably foreseeable or knowable severe risks
posed by the inevitable use and litter of their filtered cigarettes
defective and dangerous products when used as 1ntended orin a
foreseeable manner : ' R

Complaint at42.
The Complaint goes further to assert that . Lok

- Defendants knew, based on information passed to them and/or from .
the scientific community, of the environmental consequences
.inherently caused by the normal use and operation of their filtered
cigarettes, including the likelihood that discarded cigarette filters

-.would contaminate the soil and groundwater, hamper plant growth,
pollute waterways, deteriorate critical aquatic habitats and
ecosystems, poison pets, wildlife, and fish, and the associated
consequences of those physical and environmental changes . . . .

Id




Defendants were requiréd to warn of and instruct Plaintiff about clangers. COmplaint at42.
Count XI (Negligent Failure to Warn) of the Complaint is similarly worded.

Throughout the times at issue, Defendants breached their duty of
care by failing to.adequately warn Baltimore City of the
environmental consequences that would inevitably ﬂow from the
intended use of the1r ﬁltered crgarettes

Given the probable losses presented by the environmental

consequences that inevitably flow from the normal use of filtered-

cigarettes, a reasonable designer, manufacturer, marketer, seller,
 distributor, or other participant responsible for introducing filtered

cigarettes into the stream of commerce, would have warned the City

of those known, inevitable env1ronmental consequences and
-financial loses. :

Complaint at 45.

Counts X and XI of the Complamt do not discuss health consequences associated with

- warning labels or advert1sements Rather the Complamt suggests that the Defendants failed to

warn, in any manner, the Clty or pubhc about the 1mpact of nonb1odegradable cigarette ﬁlters on
the environment. The Complaint: does not 1mpl1cate the adequacy of the | wammg labels on
cigarette packages. o ' .. g : - »‘ !

In addition, the Tobacco 4 Control Act pertains. to | laheling . and" .re(iuire’d warnings on |
cigarettes_ packages, as well as ad'vertisements related to health concerns to include lung cancer,
heart disease, emphysema, dangers tojpregnant women, and carbon monoxide. 15 U:S.C. §1333.
The current labeling requirements and warnings do not reference theenvironment. The Complaint
focuses on env1ronrnental concerns and consequences ansmg out of non- b1odegradable filters, not

the health risks. addressed in 15 U.S.C. §l333 therefore the Complarnt is not preempted by federal

law.
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2. Whether the City’s littering claims fail -

In Count I through Count IV, Plaintiff alleges violations of Maryland State littering codes and

the Baltimore City Health Code.

T

a. Countl: Vidlation of Maryland Code Annotated,» c'%imiﬁal Law §10-110

In Count I of the Complalnt Pla1nt1ff alleges that Defendants V1olated a portlon of the

Maryland Code which' prov1des the followmg

A person may not:.(1) d1spose of l1tter ona’ hlghway or perform an
act that violates the State Vehicle Laws regarding disposal of litter,
glass, and other prohibited substances on highways; .or.(2).dispose

“or cause or-allow the dlsposal of litter on public or private property

unless .(i).the property is designated by the State for-the disposal.of
liter and the person is authorized by the proper public authority to
use the property; or (ii) the litter is placed in a htter receptacle or
container installed on the property.

Mp. CODE ANN.. CRIM. LAW § 10-110(‘c).' B

" Plaintiff argues Defendants are responsible for over 500 pounds of litter: Further, “the acts

and omissions; including thé reléase and migration of filtered cigarettes into and onto Baltimore

C1ty lands, violate that ‘statute and constitute unlawful litt'efing'.” Complaint ‘at 20. Therefore,

piirsuant to Mp. CODE ANN., CRIM. Law § 10-110(2)(ii), if convicted; the Defendants, are guilty

of a misdemeanor and subject to imprisonment not exceeding five years or a fine not exceeding

$30,000 or both. In addition to the penalties listed in the prévious sentence, a court may order the

violator to:

(i) remove or render harmless the l1tter disposed of in V101at1on of
_ this section; (i) repair or restore property damaged by, or pay

B damages for, the d1sposal of the litter in'violation of this sectio; (iif)

) perform public service relatlng to the removal of litter disposed of .
" in violation of this section or to the festoration of an area polluted

by litter disposed of in violation of this sectlon or (iv) reimburse the

 State; county, mumc1pal corpotation, or bi- -county unit for its costs”

incurred in removing the litter disposed of in violation.

11




MD. RULES, RULE 4-202. Charging Documents = Use (a).
Accordmg to Maryland Rule 4- 201 “an offense shall be tried only on a charging
| document.” MD. RULES, RULE 4- 201(a) It also prov1des

(b) In the District Court. In the District Court, an offense may be
tiied (1) on an information, (2) on a statemerit of charges filed
pursuant to section (b) Rule 4-211, or (3)ona 01tat10n in the case of
a petty offense when authorized by statute.
(¢) In the Circuit Court. In the Circuit Court, an offense may be tried
(1) on an indictment, or (2) on an information if the offense is (A)

- a misdemeanor, or (B) a felony within the jurisdiction of the District
Court, or (C) any other.felony and lesser included offense if the
defeéndant consents in writing to be charged by information, or if the
defendant has been charged with a felony and a prelimlnary hearlng
pursuant to- Rule 4 221 ‘has resulted ina ﬁndlng of probable cause.

\ :

MD RULES, RULE 4 201(b) (c)

There is no evidence that Plaintiff has filed a Statement of Charges demonstratlng probable.
cause, a criminalinformation, or indictment. In additien, the Maryland Rules setforth the contents ‘
‘of a charging document which include “the name of the De_fe_n&dant,‘ eon_cise and‘deﬁnit'e statement
of the essential facts:of the ,offense:.\é\rith Which the Defe_ndant is charged? and with reasonable
particularity, the time and place the ’ovffense occurred.” MD. RULES, RULE 4-202. The rule also
mandates tliat the charging document shall contain a notice to the defendant that explains the rights
that accused has upon arrest or being served with a citation or snmmons
The Complaint is not in compliance with the Maryland Rules, and thus Count I of the
. Complalnt is dlsmlssed

b.  Count II- Violation of the Baltimore City Health Code §§ 7-606 and 7-607

The Baltirnere; City Health Code sﬂ_tate’s tliat,“ne person may dispose of any waste or other-

material ,exceptt' (l) ina reCeptacle and ‘_at a location approved by law for waste disposal; (2) ata

.
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licensed landfill; or (3) at any other disposal site authorized by law to receive waste.” BALT. CITY

CODE, HEALTH § 7-606.

The Baltimore City Health Code further provides:. '

(a) In general. No person may dispose of or permit to discharge or
flow onto any public or private property, with or without the owner’s
permission, any liquid or solid matter that is or that, after exposure
to the atmosphere or otherwise, is likely to become offensive or
otherwise a nuisance

(b) Illustrations. This section applies to, among other things, any:
(1) blood; (2) refuse coal oil; (3) dead animal or part of an animal;-
(4) domestic or sanitary sewage; (5) excrement; (6) filth; (7) foul or
nauseous liquid.

BALT. CITY CODE, HEALTH § 7-607.

¢. Count III: Viqlation of the Baltimore City Code § 7-608

In Count I1I of the Complaint, Plaintiff alleges a violation of another section the Baltimore
City Health Code that specifically prohibits a person from dumping on public property. It states,

No person may dump or dispose of any garbage, waste, wire, glass,
nails, or any other matter (1) in or on any gutter, sidewalk, street,
open space,; wharf, or other public place; or (2) except for litter, as
defined in Subtitle 7 of this title, into any public trash receptacle
located on or along any sidewalk street, open space, wharf, or other
pubhc place. :

BALT. CITY CoDE, HEALTH § 7-608.

d. CountIV: Violation of the Baltimore Cltv Code § 7 609

In Count IV of the Complaint, Plaintiff alleges a violation of a section of the Baltimore
City Health Code that prohibits individuals from dumping on private property. The section
~ provides that “no person may dump or otherwise dispose of any earth, dirt, 'sand, ashes, gravel,

~ rocks, garbage, waste or any other matter on any private property, including in or near any waste
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receptacle on the property, without the permission of the property owner or the owner’s agen J
BALT. CITY CODE, HEALTH § 7-609.
Pursuant to the Baltimore City: Health Code,

[alny person who, in v101at10n of § 7- 608 {“Dumpmg on pubhc
property”} of this subtitle, or in violation of any other provision of

. law, dumps or otherwise disposes of matter in or on property owned,
leased, or controlled by the City is liable to the City for the costs of
(1) removing the matter dumped or disposed of; and (2) repalnng ,
any damage caused by the dumpmg or disposal.- . . : : .

BALT. CiTY CODE, HEALTH § 7-628.
According to Baltimore City Health Cede § 7-63 1, the Baltim_ote City. Code, Health Title
7, Subtitle 6 may be'enforced by the issuar‘lee" of (1) an environmental eitation ﬁncier City Code.
Article 1, Subtitle 40 {“En‘vironme_ntal Control Boa:rd’_’};‘ or (2) a civil citation unde_r Baltimot'e
City Code Article 1, ‘Subtitle 41 {“Civtl Citatio‘nsi”}. |
| - There is no evidence that Plaintiff has complied with Baltirhore Health Code § 7-631.
~ There is no mention that Plaintiff issued a civil er environmental citation that would have placed
the Defendants ohhotiee of the Violatiorts; ’Co.nt'rary to Plaintiff”é argament, while Baltimore City V

Health Code § 7-631(b) does not limit the civil or criminal remedies, or any other enforcement.
action authorized by law, the contents of the citation is not discretiehary. Additionally, the
Baltimore City Code requires that the citation include the following::

. (1) the name of the person cited (if known);
© (2) the violation with which the person is cited, including a reference
~ to the specific law in question;
(3) the manner and time in which the person must either; (1)-pay the
prepayable fine prescribed for the v1olat10n or (11) request a hearing
on the violation;
(4) the time within which the v1olat1on if ongoing must be abated
and -
(5) a notice that fallure to act in the manner and time stated in the
citation may result in default decision and order entered against the
person. ‘ '
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BALT. CITY CODE, ART. 1, §40-7.
The Article gees further to cite the manner by which an environmental citation must be
issued. ' - B - A
‘Mearnwhile, the Baltimore City Code also lists the mandatory contents of a civil citation.
(1) The name and address, if known, of the person charged;
(2) The violation with which the person is charged, including a
narrative statement of the cause for issuing the citation;
(3) The time when and place where the v101at1on occurred,
(4) The amount of the fine; '
(5) The manner and time within which the person must either:

(1) Pay the fine specified in the citation; or
(i) Request a trail on the violation.

BALT. CITY CODE ART. 1, § 41.5(b).

It-alsQ requires a certification, signed ._by the issuing enforcer_nent officer under the penalties of
perjury, that the facts contained in it are true to the best of the officer’s information, knowledge,
and belief. BALT. CiTY CODE, ART. 1, § 41.5(¢c)

e. Count V: Violation of the Baltimore City Code § 7-702

In Count V (ViolatiOn of the Baltimore C1ty Cb'de; Hevalth' §7-702) of the Complaint,
Plaintiff assert Defendants Violated this reénlation which provides that 5‘[n]o person may: (1) litter
on any pubhc or pnvate property; or (2) perrmt the accumulatlon of 11tter on any ‘property under
that person’s control ”? Plalntlﬁ alleges that Defendants v101ated thls regulatlon by their acts and
| omissions, 1ne1ndmg th_e releaseand,m1g_rat'19n of 01garette filters 1nto and onto Baltimore City
lands.”

| Hovnever; therBalti'mo_re City Health'.Codie” prdV‘i'desthat “in tzdditinn to any other civil or
criminal remedy et enforcement prbcedure, this subtitle may be enforced by issuance of: (1) an

| environmental citation under City Code Article 1, Subtitle 40 {“Environmental Control B‘oar_d”'};
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or (2) a civil citation under Cit}; Code Article 1, Subtitle 41 {“Civil Citations”}. BALT. CITY CODE,
HEALTH § 7-705 (emphasis added).

. There is no evidence that the City has compliéd with the provisions of the Baltimore City
Code requiring citations to contain the information speciﬁed)in the regulation. Further, although

the regulation states that any other civil or criminal remedy may be sought, the statute may only

be enforced by an environmental or éivil cita‘[‘ion.‘ As stated in Baltimore City Health -Code § 7-

631, Baltimore City Code, Article 1 §§ 40 and 41 require that eﬁvironmental citations contain
certain provisions. Oncé more, the contents of the citation aré not discretionary, as evidenced by
the word “shall.”
f. Jurisdiction
In addition, a violation of Baltimore City Code, Health §§ 7»-'606, 7‘-6(.)7, 7-608, or 7-609
invokes the subsection on criminal penalties, which provides:

(a) Basic penalty; $1,000 and 90 days.
Except as specified in subsection (b) of this section, any person
who violates any provision of this subtitle or who authorizes any
employee or agent to violate any provision of this subtitle is
guilty of a misdemeanor and, on conviction, is subject to any one
or more of the following for each offense:
(1) a fine of not more than $1,000; and
(2) imprisonment for not more than 90 days.
(b) Enhanced penalty: $1,000 and 12 months.
If the violation entails the disposal, in any 24-hour period, of
material that weighs 25 or more pounds or material that
comprises 10 or more cubic feet, the penalty for a violation of
- this subtitle is any one or more of the following for each offense:
(1) a fine of not more than $1,000;
(2) Imprisonment for not more than 12 months ; and
(3) Revocation of the privilege of seeking a building permit in
the City. S ‘ : ' :

\

~ BALT. CiTY CODE, HEALTH § 7-632.

The Mafyland Code further provides the following: ‘ | N
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(1) the District Court has exclusive jurisdiction in a criminal case in
which a person at least 18 years old is charged with criminal
violation of a State, county, or municipal rule or regulation, if
the violation is not a felony,

(2) Doing or omitting to do any act made punishable by a fine,
imprisonment, or other penalty as provided by the particular law,
ordinance, rule,- or regulation defining the violation if the
violation is not a felony.

Mb. CODE, Ct8. & JUD. PROC. § 4-301(bj;

A violation of Maryland Code, Criminal Law §10-110 (Count I), and Baltimore City Code,
Health §§ 7-606, 7-607, 7-608, 7-609 (Counts II-V) is a misderneanor.. The penalty for a violation
of Maryland Code, Criminal Law § 10-110 can be np to five (5) years and a violation of the
Baltimore City Health Code excluding § 7-702 may be as much as twelve (12) months. Therefore,
a defendant has the right to elect a jury trial. See MD. CTS. & JUD. PRrO. § 4-302(e)(2)(i) (emphasis
added). However, by proceeding in this manner, Plaintiff has “demanded a jury trial” a.nd such
action is precluded. MD: éTS. & Jup. Pro. § 4-302(e)(2)&iii). Furthermore, a violation of
. Baltimore City Code § 7-702 is a miedemeanor and, upon conviction, is subj‘ect to a fine of $500.
Therefore, the District Court hasexclusive original jurisdicﬁon oveér this charge.

In light of the aforementioned juﬁsdictional challenges and other reasons cited above; the ]
Motion to Dismiss for Count fthfough Count V is granted. |

3. Whether the City’s tort claims are barred by the Master Settlement Agi‘eement

Defendants contend that Plaintiﬁ’ ’s tort claims fail because they nave been released
pursuant to the Master Settlement Agreement (hereinefter “MSA”) between Maryland and the
manufacturer Defendants. According to- Defendants, the MSA released “all monetary
Claims...in any way related to, in whole or in part, the use of or exposure to Tobacco Products

manufactured in the ordinary course of business.” Motion to Dismiss at 21. In turn, Plaintiff
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asserts that it is not a “Releasing Party,” because (1) the Marylaqd Attorney General did not
have the authority to litigate this claim on behalf of Baltimore City, and (2) these claims are
not “released claims.”

a. Whether the Attorney General had authority to litigate on behalf of Baltimore City

The Supreme Court of Maryland® has held that the Attorney General “possesses no
common law powers.” Phillip Morris Inc. v.. Glendening, 349 Md. 660, 674, (1998) (citing State
v. Burning Tree 'Club, 301 Md. 9 (1984)). ‘Rather, “the Attorney General of Maryland has only
such.powers as are vested in him by the Constitution of Maryland and the ‘Va:dous enactments of
the General Assembly of Maryland. Glendening, 349 Md. at 675. Further, the Maryland
Constitution states the following: | |

(a) The Attorney General Shall:

Prosecute and defend on the part of the State-all cases pending
in the appellate courts of the State, in the Supreme Court of the
United States or the inferior Federal Courts; by or.against the
State, or in which the State may be interested, except those
criminal appeals otherwise prescribed by the General Assembly.

Investigate, commence, and prosecute or defend any civil or
criminal suite or action or category of such suits or actions in
any of the Federal Courts or in Any court of this State, ...on the
part of the State or in which the State may be interested, which

. the General Assembly by law or joint resolution, or the
Governor, shall have directed or shall direct to be investigated,
commenced and prosecuted or defended.

MD. CONST. art. V, § 3.
In Glendening, the Court acknowledged that the Aftorney General received authorization

from the Governor to enter into a contingency fee contract with a private law firm to provide

! Effective December 14, 2022, the name of the Court of Appeals of Maryland was changed to the Supreme Court of
Maryland.
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representation and litigation services tosthe Attorney General and the State of *Maryland in
connection with litigation against the-tobacco industry. Glendening, 349 Md. at 663. :

“In this matter, the Governor authorized the_‘ Attorney ‘General to pursue this litigation on
béhalf of the State. Stat_c v Maryland State Board ofCo'ntract Appeals, 364 Md. 446 (20(ll).'The
State’s litigation against the tohacco industry eventually settled 1n November 1998. Id. at 450.
The settlement was “a ‘Master Settlement Agreement’ that disposed .of thev"claims of the 40 states
that had sued the tobacco 1ndustry ” Id However there is.no support for the assertlon that the
lawsu1t contemplated clarms made on behalf Baltlmore C1ty

The Maryland Code 11sts the Baltlmore Clty agen01es and ofﬁc1als which the Attorney

General represents by statlng that ¢ [t]he Attorney General is the legal adv1ser of and shall represent

\

and otherw1se perform all of the legal work for (1) the Board of SuperV1sors of Electlons of .

Ba1t1more C1ty, (2) the Board of quuor Comm1s51oner of Balt1more C1ty, and. (3) the Sher1ff of

Balumorc Clty.”, MD. CODE, STATE GOVT. § 6-107."

“The MSA ‘also deﬁnes “releasing party” within ‘the’ agreement “itself by stating the

following: .,

(pp) “Releasing Party” means each Settling State and any of its past,
present and future agents, officials acting in their official capacities,
legal representatives, agencies, departments, commissions and

" divisions, and also  means;-to .the full extent.of the power of the -
signatories hereto to release past, present, and future claims, the

following: (1) any Settling State’s: subdivisions :(political:.or = ‘.
otherwise, but not limited to, municipalities, counties, parishes,
“villages,. unincorporated- districts “and hospital “districts), public -
entities, public instrumentalities and publ1c educational institutions;

- and (2) persons or entities actlng in a parens patriae, soverelgn.
_quasi-sovereign, private attorney general qu1 tam, tax payer or any
other capac1ty, whether ‘or not any of them part101pate An th1s
settlement o S D SRR
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'Thé plain language of the MSA grants no more authority tci the Attorney Generals than
what they already possess: to release claims of a politicai subdivisiom Based on the plain reading
of the Maryland vConstitu‘tio’n, MSA, bat‘ld any related statutes, the Atti)rriey General did not have
the authority to act Oil behalf of ,Baltimore‘City, the City isnot a ‘.‘Relleasing Party”, and therefore,
its claims are not released by the MSA.

4. Whether the City’s tort claims are barred by the statute of limitations

Defendants ar"gué that Plaintiff’s c_laims are subjecttoa statute of limitations which reqiiire's
that an action at law niust be filed within three years from the date \)the action accrues. _ Litz v,
Marqunci’ Dept. of Enviroﬁment, 434 Md. 623, 640 (2013) (citing MD. CODE, CTS. & JuD. ProC.
§ 5-101). Defendants assert that abcoiding to several statements macie by Plaintiffs, the city knew
~of ﬂie conduct it, challengés much rni)re than three }iears ago. For example, Plaintiff claimed to
have spén’_t $32 milligri in collecting and disposing of litter, including 11, 935, 098 cigaiiefte ﬁl‘ieis'
into landﬁlls, since 2014. Motion tci Dismiss at 26. Plaintiff c‘ount:ers that the silbject matter cif
the lawsuit'inyolves a strictly governrriental function “to .eic__ldress a litter problem,” and that the
. statu’ie of limitations does not run against ihe state, nor its agéncies, nor political subdivisions or
municipalities exercising strictly goverhiilental fun‘(:.’tions.. Spaw, LLC v. City of Annapolis, 452
Md. 314, 358-60 (2017). o |
| In Spaw, thé Marﬂand Supreme Court explsined its }iolding in a previous case where the
Court held that the statute of limitati(ins Wés not a bar in an action giowing‘oilt oi‘ the exercise of
a governmental ﬁinciion by a political SIibdiVision of the State. FId.~ (citing Goldberg v. Howard
County Welfaré Board, 260 Md. 351 (1971)).
While the statuté of limitations will bar the governmental unit where
- it is asserting a private or proprietary right, it will not apply where
the right being asserted is public or governmental in nature. In other

words, the governmental plaintiff in seeking to enforce a contract -
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right or some right belonging to it in ‘a proprietary since, may be-
“defeated by the statute of limitations, but as to rights belonging'to - \
v - the public ‘and pertaining purely to governmental affairs, and ‘in -
respect of which the political subdivision represents the public at
- large or the state, the exempting in favor of sovereignty apphes and
the statute of limitations does not operate as a bar.

Sy

Goldberg, 260 Md at 258 59 Maryland courts have adopted and apphed the concept nullum
tempus occurrit regi (tlme 'does not Tun agamst the klng) to the State or its agenc1es However
~ courts have limited itsv'application 'against municipalities. “In that instance, the municipality:can
only avoid' the bar of the statute of limitations if the ‘action asserted arisés from the,;exe'rcise ofa —
- governmental function as distinguished from a proprietary or corporate 'ﬁmction.'Spaw,, 452 Md.
at359. In Spaw, the éou"rt -describes a governmental act as follows: |
Where the act in question is sanctioned by legislative:authority,-is: B
solely for the public benefit, with no profit or emolument incurring
. to.the, mumc1pa11ty, and tends to. benefit the public health, and

promote the welfare of the whole public, and has in it no element of
- pnvate interest, it is governmental in its nature. '

Id. at 359. The test is “whether the act performed is for the common good of all or for the spec1al
benefit or profit of the corporate entity.” Id. (quoting Tad]er v. Montgomery Counly, 300 Md 539

547 (1984))

At issue in Spaw was the City of Armapohs s des1re to enforce hlstonc preservatlon

[t

ordrnances The Supreme Court of Maryland found that its action, enforc1ng hlstorlc preservatlon
ordinances, arises from the exercise of a governmental functlon. In the case sub ]udzce, Plalntrff _

seeks multlple forms of rehef

l) Compensatory damages to pay for the losses, past, present and future for damage to -
~Baltimore City’s infrastructure, land and natural resources, including the economic
impact to. Baltimore City from the loss of its environmental health, and other losses
resulting from the conduct alleged herein, including, but not 1_1m1ted to, the loss of value

in Baltimore City’s properties, the loss of tax, sales, and licensing revenue to Baltimore
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City resulting from Defendant’s actions and omissions, plus the costs to Baltimore City
of cleaning up and disposing of the Defendant’s litter, past, present and future;

2) Equitable relief, including investigation, abatement, remediation, and removal of the

" nuisances complained of herein;-
3) Criminal penalties, including but not limited to, fines consrstent wrth Maryland law and
the Baltimore City Code; :

4) Punitive damages in an amount reasonable approprlate and sufﬁment given each -

Defendant’s respective net worth to punish each Defendant for the good of society and

- deter Defendants from ever committing the same or similar acts in Baltimore City; and

5) Injunctive relief in the form of Court Orders mandating the immediate and complete
abatement and remediation of all Baltimore City property.

Complaint at 46-47.

Plaintiff brings this: case to enforce littering codes and to protect the environment, which -‘

are government functions. In addition, the relief requested is for the benefit of the citizens of

Baltimore,'not solely the Plaintiff.- Therefore, the claims are not barred by the statute of limitations.

5. Whether the City has adequately pled its tort claims

Defendants contend that Plaintiff cannot maintain Count VI (Continuing Trespass) because
manufacturing and distributing cigarettes does not amount to proximate cause. Additionally,
Plaintiff does not plead exclusive possession of the littered public land and waterways, which is

required to recover for trespass.

On the other hand?l)laintiff alleges that the conduct that amounts to continuing trespass is
“knowing Wlth substanti.al“certainty at the time of their .mannfacture and sale of cigarettes, and
then with theirldisposal and littering of these products and wastes, that snch activities were likely,
lf not certainly, to result in contamination of the Baltimore .City lande and \yaters.” Complaint at

29. The City further states that the conduct caused, and continues to cause, permanent harm to and

serlously damage the property values and ut111ty of Baltimore C1ty property, thereby causing

Baltimore C1ty to lose millions of dollars in sales and property taxes for decades.
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a. Trespass

A trespass occurs “when a defendant interferes with a plamtrﬂ’s interest in the exclusive possessmn
of the land by entermg or causmg something to enter the land.” Exxon Mobil Corp V. Albrzght 433 Md.
303, 408 (2013) (quoting Rosenblatt v. Exxon Co., US.A., 335 Md. 58 (1994). AccOrding 'to the Second
Restatement of Torts:

* One is subject to liability to another for tréspass, irrespective of
whether he thereby causes harm to any legally protected 1nterest of
the other, if he intentionally . : ,

1) Enters land in the possessmn of the other or causes a th1ng ora
third person to do so, or -
2) Remains on the land, or
3) Fails to remove from the land a thing which he is under a duty
to remove. ‘

’

Restatement (Second) of Torts § 158 ( 1965)

The Restatement further states

- Causing entry of a thing. ..In order that there may be a trespass
. under the rule stated in this Section, it is not necessary that the -
foreign matter should be thrown directly and immediately upon the

other's land. It is enough that an act is done with knowledge that it

W111 toa substantlal certainty result in the entry of the foreign matter.

Restatement (Second) of Torts § 158 cmt. i (1965)
Plaintiff alleges that Defenddnts make cigarettes with pl'astic filters inserted into paper
_ wrappers, giving the appearance to smokers and nonsmokers that the butt is “merely harmless
paper and cotton that will easily degrade into the environment.” Complaint at'15-16." According |
‘to i’laintiﬂ; Defenda'nts knew that smokers litter cigarette filters on the ground, becduse smokers
are under the impression that the paper ‘wrappers: and ‘filters will decompose in the environment.
Complaint at 15. Despite 'knowing that smokers wodid' "dispo'se' of the filtered cigarettes on‘the

sidevifa"lks,' streets, waterways, and toilets, Defendants failed to include warnings about the harm

[
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the filters cause to the environment, and warn consumers that they must properly dispose of them.
Complaint at 16.

This -is‘ insufﬁcienf. There vis no direct or indirect act that Plaintiff can attribute to
Defendants t_réspassing. Although the Restatement_doesn’t' require the act to be done directly or
immediately, ‘the. trespasser mﬁst have performed it. In this case, the aét (littering) is performed
by the smoker not the manufacturer. There is no cause of action for trespass, if a third party actually
performs the act, leading the object to invade the property of another. This is not to be confused

| with causing a third person to enter the land of another. . This is further explained in the

Restatement as follows:

[IIf, by any act of his, the actor intentionally causés a third person to

enter land, he is as fully liable as though he himself enters. Thus, if

the actor has commanded or requested a third person to enter land

in the possession of another, the actor is responsible for the third

person's entry if it be a trespass. ' '
Restatement (Second) of Toﬁs §158 cmt. J (1'965). In this éase', there is no allegation that
Defendants commanded or requested the smoker litter the cigarettes..

Plaintiff relies on State v. Exxon Mobile Corp., 406 F. Supp. 3d 420, 467 (D. Md. 2019) to
support its position that Defendants can be held liable for trespass. In Exxoh, the State of Maryland
filed a compléint against approximately 65 defendants who manufactured, distributed, or supplied
MTBE gasoline. According to the State of Mafyland, MTBE was responsible for widespread
contaminétion of its waters. Id. at 471. Like Plaintiff, Marylandb alleged that the defendants knew
years before the claim was filed that MTBE was harmful and could cause environmental harm,
.involving the groundwater, but refﬁsed to warn the pﬁblic. Id. at 435. Additionally, Maryland’s

complaint included claims for strict liability (defective design, failure to warn, abnormally

dangerous activity), public nuisance, trespass, negligence, and violations of various State
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environmental statutes. They also songht compensatory, punitive damages,_ and costs for- testing,'
. cleanup, monitoring, and restoration of State’s natural resources, as well as an injnn‘ction. Id at
436. : = |
In Exxon_, Defendants contended that the State’s trespass claim fails because th_éy did not
, hav'e‘v‘cn'ntrol over the underground storage tanks at the time the trespassés occurred. Id: at'471.
The Honorable Judge Ellen'L. Hollander rejected this argunl’ent‘b'emuse the Court-could not “say
in t'he _reéord before it-that defendants who’m‘anufaqtured and distributed MTBE-gasoline lacked
such _qgn‘qol __Qve_}r‘the. gaéoline stations. and sto;age equipment Whefe MTBE r_eleases occurred.”
1
s Hnwever, thls case is.di__stinguishable frqm Exxon‘.__‘ Plaintjff contends that the harm to the
envir.nnrlnentA onang at the point when thé filter is discarded or littered by the smoker. As stated
earlief, ‘.cne“}('}pmplai_nt does not 'e.stabxli‘sh'that Defendants _fqr_ce_d or .ex_ercinsfgdv controll over the
smokcr at the time th¢ cigarette filter madg nontact witn the< enyirnnment. Th(;r‘efo\re,"ratinnale, }'o;

—

Exxon does not apply to this case and the Motion to Dismiss fdr Count V is granted.

o Be_canse,thapant has de'tqr‘mined’that the Complaint fails to establish that Defendants had -
;nfﬁcignt control over ’_ch_e filtered cigarette}s to be liab'lle\ for tre‘spass;:it i_g not necessary tn ,determine_/
' Wh‘,’ff‘h@.ﬂ_@@ﬁg has ,.adAenqnatAely al_l_eged exélusive possession. But, out of an abundance .o/f cauti(_)n,
the Courtwill addressit. . - |

In ‘Exxor‘z, the Stata of Maryland claimed it properly redressed injury for the'yvidespread _
CQntaminatiqn lof its waters in parens patriae. Id. at 470.. .Howl_e,vctrl, in“E'xx'on, the Court e)gplained
that Maryland courts have “never ’deviatgc_l 'frorn ;the? rule that an action for tréspass lies only ‘when
a‘defe:nd,a.nt’ intmnes upon a_blaintiff ’s inte{'est in the exclnsiye possession of the land.” I_d.: at 470

(citing Exen Mobil Corp. v. Albright, 433 Md. 303, 408 (2013)). waever, the Court did find

1
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should pay for the harmful consequences of such an action.

4

“one- court has found that the State’s quasi-trustee interest in its natural waters could support

recovery in public nuisance for an oil spill.” Id. (citing Maryland v. Amerada Hess Corp., 350 F.

Supp. 1060, 1067 (D. Md. 1972)). As such, the Joint Motion to Dismiss was granted to the extent

the claim was based on properties outside of its exclusive possession. The same logic and ruling
would apply here, and the Motion to Dismiss Would be granted to the extent the claim is'based on

properties outside of the City of Baltimore’s exclusive possession.

b. Whether Plaintiff has adequately pled proximate causation in its tort claims -

Proximate cause “involves 4 ponclusion that someone will be held llegally‘ responsible fpr
the conséquences of an act or omission.” Pittway Corp. v. Collins, 409 Md. 218, 243 (2009).’. To
be a proximate cause for an injury “the negligenée must be (1) a cause in fact, and (2) a legal
cégrﬁzable (c;ause."’) Id. The first step ‘i'n the ahalys_isvis‘ian egaMnation of causation-in-fact to
determine W’hoA or what caused an action. The seéond‘step isa legal anal'ys"is. to determine who
Causation-in-fact concerns the threshbld;inquiry of “whether deféndaﬁt"-s conduct actlialiy

produced an injury.” Id. There are two tests to determine if causation-in-fact exists. The “but for”

" test and the “substantial factor” test. Id The “but for” test applies in cases where only one

negligent act is at issue, and ¢ausation-in-fact is found when the injury would not HaVe occurred
absent or “but for” the dcfendanf’s négligent act.. Id. When two or more indéf;'endent negligent
acts bring about an injury; Ahvovve_ver, the “substaﬁtial factor” test_contfolé’. ‘Causation-in-fact may
be found if it is ‘frﬁofe likely than not” ‘.[hat the def,endant’suco‘nduct was a substantial factor in

producing the plaintiff’s injuries. Pittway Corp., 409 M. at 243. Further, the Supreme Court of

‘ Maryland édo'pt'evd'the test in the Second Restatement of Torts which provides the following:
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' The actor’s negligent conduct is a legal cause of harm to another if
(a) his conduct is a substantial factor in bnnglng about the harm,
and :
(b) there is no rule of law relieving the actor from liability because
of the'manner in which his negligence has resulted in the harm.
Restatement (Second) of Torts § 431
In Pzttway, the Court relied on the Restatement to provide considerations to determine

whether the actor’s conduct is a substantial factor in bnngmg about harm to another:

(a) the number of other factors which contribute in producing the
harm and the extent of the effect which they have in producing it;
~ b) whether the actor’s conduct has created a force or series of forces
- which are in continuous and active operation up to the time of the -
~ harm, or has created a situation harmless unless acted upon by other
forces of which the actor 1s not responsible; '
¢) lapse of time.

Id. at 245.

In this case, Pl_aintiff has adequately pled that but for the manut'acturers choosing to use the
- plastic filter, the environmental harm would not have ensued. Complaint at 7 In addition, Plaintiff
| also alleges that manufacturing the cigarettes, that Defendants knew ,‘_vuould be thrown to ground
by smokers due to their ﬁaper like ap'p‘efaranCe,‘_ was a substantial factor in‘-bringing about harm to
Baltimore’s naturaT resources. =
Once causation-in-fact is estabhshed the proximate cause ‘inquiry turns ‘to whether the ~
defendant’s neghgent actlons constltute a legally cogmzable cause of the complainant’s injuries.
- The Court should consider Whether harm to a litigant falls w1th1n a general field of danger that the
actor should have ant1c1pated or expected. Plttway, 409 Md. at 246. The question of legal causation
'most.often involves -a determination of whether the injuries were a foreseeabl_e result of the
negligent conduct. When multiple negligent acts or omissions are deemed a cause-in _t'ac_t ’of a

plaintiff’s injuﬁes, the foreseeability analysis must involve an inquiry into whether a negligent -
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defendant is relieved from liability by intervening negligent acts or omissions. The Maryland
“Supreme Court has also noted .the following:

The defendant is liable where the intervening. causes, acts, or
conditions were set in motion by his earlier negligence, or naturally
induced by such wrongful act, or omission, or even it is generally
held, if the intervening acts or conditions were of a nature, the
happening of which wasreasonably to have been anticipated, though
they have been acts of the plaintiff himself.

Pennsylvania Steel Co. v. Wilkinson, 107 Md. 574 (1908).
Liability is avo‘ided only if the intervening negligent act or omission at issue is considered
a superseding cause of the harm to the Plaintiff. Pittway Corp., 409 Md. at 248. According to

Pittway, the test in Maryland for determining when an intervening negligent act rises to the level
4
of a superseding cause includes the following factors:

a) the fact that its intervention brings about harm different in kind

from that which would otherwise have resulted from the actor’s

negligence; : '

b) the fact that its operation or the consequences thereof appear after

the event to be extraordinary rather than normal in view of the

circumstances existing at the time of its operation;

¢) The fact that the intervening force is operating independently of

any situation created by the actor’s negligence, or on the other hand,

is or is not a normal result of such a situation;

d) the fact that the operation of the intervening force is due to a third
. person’s act or his failure to act;

e) the fact that the intervening force is due to a act of a third person
 which is wrongful toward the other and as such subjects the third -

“person to liability to him; and
f) the degree of culpability of a wrongful act of a third person which
sets the intervening force in motion.

Id. at 249.

Plaintiff correctly assesses the importance of foreseeability in determining legal causation.
“Given that f'oreseeability' is the touchstone in any determination of proximate, interveriing and

superseding cause, we first address the propriety of deciding foreseeability on a motion to
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dismiss.” Collins v. Li, 176 Md. App. 502, 536 (2007). Normally, the foreseeability inquiry is a
question of facf to be decided by the trier of fact. Id. In additi§n, ordinarily the question of whether
causation is proximate or superseding is a matter to be resolved by the jury. . | However, it becomes
a question of law in casés where reasoning minds cannot difﬁ?r. Pittway Cor?. v. Collins, 409 Md.
218, 253 (citing Segerman v. Jon‘es,‘v 256 Md. 169, 135 (1969)).‘

| Here, the facts asserted in the Corhplaint could. lead to different conclusions. Plaintiff
alleges that Defendan\ts failed fo propérly educate the public 'about the da;iger discarded cigarette
filters pose té the environment. Plaintiff describes the anti-littering campaigns as ineffective. One
could also conclude that smokers litter the filters on the ground because the paper like appearance
leads smokers to bélieve itis biodegradéble. On the.:‘ ofher hand, one could conclude that cigarette
manufactures knowingly chose to produce the non-biodegradable plastic filter in tﬁeir products
because the customers preferredEthe draw of the pléstic filter. If true, this could mean that no
amount of eduéation ébéu’t the true corﬁposition of cigarette .ﬁlters, or hérm littered cigarettes cause
to the environment, would prevent coﬁsumers from littering the ﬁh;ers on thé ground. Given, the
different conclusions one could reach, the issu€ of causation should be left tq the trier of fact. The

Motion to Dismiss, on the grounds that Plaintiff has not pled causation, is denied.

76. Whether the City has stated a claim for design defect (Counts VII and VIII)

The Defendants assert that the City has not stated a design defect claim under either a theory
of strict liability or negligence because (1) it fails to plausibly allege either physical harm to the
ultimate user, or that the producté are unreasonably déngerous, and (2) it cannot show that the
Defendaht owed any dﬁty to the city. |

Maryland has adopted the theory of strict liability.'set forth in the Restatement (Second) of

Torts §402A which provides:
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(1) One who sells any product in a defective condition unreasonably
dangerous to the user or consumer or to his property is subject
to liability for physical harm thereby caused to the ultimate user
or consumer or to his property, if
(a) the seller is engaged in the business of selling such a product
and
(b) it is expected to and does reach the user or consumer without

~ substantial changé in the condition in which it is sold

(2) The rule stated in subsection (1) applies although
(a) the seller has exercised all possible care in the preparation
and sale of his product, and
(b) the consumer has not bought the product from or entered into
any contractual relation with the seller.

State v. Exxon Mobile Corp., 406 F. Supp. 3d 420, 459 (2019).
A plaintiff must establi_sh the following elements to prevail in an action for strict product
liability in Maryland:
(1) The product was in defective condition at the item that it left the
possession or control of the seller
(2) That it was unreasonably dangerous to the user or consumer
(3) That the defect was the cause of the injuries
© (4) The product was expected to and did reach the consumer without
substantial change in its condition.
Id. (citing Phipps v. General Motors Corp, 278 Md. 337, 344 (1976)). A product defect may arise from
the design of the product,'a deficiency in its manufacturing, or from the absence or inadequacy of
instructions or warnings as to its safe and appropriate use. “Maryland courts apply either the
consumer expectation test or the risk-utility test to determine whether a product is defective and
unreasonably dangerous for strict liability purposes.” Id. at 460. The consumer expectation test
applies to this case. Pursuant to this test, a defective condition is defined as a condition not
contemplated by the ultimate consumer, which will be unreasonably dangerous to him. Id.

According to the risk-utility test, a product is defective and unreasonably dangerous if the danger

presented outweighs its utility. Maryland courts have held fhat the risk-utility test applies only
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whén the product ;‘malfunctions in some way.” There is no;al_legatiori that the cigarette filters have
rﬁalﬁmctioned.

"~ In Fxxon, the Courf explained that Maryland courts have “never limited recoyefy in strict
liability for design defect to ultimate users of the product.” Id. at 461. In fab’t,r'the Appellate Court

of Maryland? held that bystanders may: recover in strict liability for foreseeable injuries c’aused‘by

the defective design of a product. Id. at. 462. (citing Valk Manufacturing, Co. v. Rangaswamy, 74

Md. App. 304 (1 988)). The Supreme Court.of Maryland has addressed the issue of Bystander
reCovery in strict liability for defective design, and uphéld bystander recovery in strict liébility for
failure to warn upon a sufficient sh§wing of causation. .Céurts have also allowed bystanders to
recovet in strict liability against sellers fo‘rbfore'seeable iﬁjuriés cauéed by defective products. /d.
(éiting Berrier v. Simplicity Manufdcturing, Inc.,563.F.3d, 54 (3d Cir. 2009)). In Exxon, the Court
supported recover}; for bystandérs;'because it placed the liability for the risk of harm, on the entity
most‘capable of controllin'g the risk. |

In this casé,.whﬂe the City of Baltimore is not the end user, it allegés that the environmental

‘harm caused by filtered cigarettes was foreseeable, and. that the cigarettes have not performed as |

'safely as an ordinary consumer would expect. They further assert that the consequence on the

environment makes them unreasonably dangerous for their intended, foreseeable, and ordinary
use. Complaint at-31. -

- In Count VII (Strict Liability for Design Defect) of the Cdmplaint, Plaintiff alleges that

Defendants manufactured cigarettes and placed those cigarettes. into the stream. of cor’nmerce.‘

~ Further, Plaintiff alleges Defendants owed é duty to not market and _diétribute any product that is

" unreasonably dangerous for its intended. or reasonably foreseeable use: Complaint at 30. Plaintiff

_ 2Effective December 14, 2022, the name of the Court of Special Appeals of Maryland was changed to the Appellate
Court of Maryland. i :
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also alleges that Defendants “formulated, designed, manufactnre'd, .packaged', distributed, tested,

N constructed, fabricated, analyzed, recommended, merchandised, advertised, promoted, and/or sold

filtered cigarettes, which were intended by Defendants, to be smoked in public and to Become litter

in'the City of Baltimore.” Complaint at 30-31. ‘In addition, it is alleged that Defendants marketed,

prornote‘d, and advertised filtered cigarettes which were sold and used by the géneral public. The |
Defendants had control over, and a substantiai .ability to-influence, the manufacturing and

distribution procésses that ied to the littering of the streets of the City of Baltimore. Complaint at

31.

In Exxon, the State of Maryland alleged that contamination of its water was a foreseeable

risk of the defendant’s sale of its produét. Plaintiff, 'i_n this case, alleges that the-Defendants’

‘individual and aggregate filtered cigarettes products were defective at the time of manufacturing,

reached the consumer in a condition substantially unchanged from the time of manufacture, and

were used in the manner intended to be used. Complaint at 32. Asin Exxon, Plaintiff alleges that

the Defendants’ cigarettes were defective and unreasonably dangerous when they are used the way

it was intended. According to Plaintiff, ordinary-consumers did not and do not expect that cigarette

filers would: (a) permanenﬂy contaminate the soil and ground water; (b) hamper plant growth; (c).

- pollute waterways; (d) deteriorate critical aquatic habitats; (e) kill fish; (f) poison cats, dogs and

wildlife; and (g) cost‘ Baltimore City millions of dollars in cleanup costs and reduce tax revenue.
Complaint at 31.

.Plaintiff has sufficiently pled that ‘the cigarette filters are unr.eas'onably‘ dangerous.
Furthermore, in light of the precedent allowing bystander recovery in defective design and strict -

liability, the Motion to Dismiss for Counts VII and VIII is denied.
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7. -Whether the City has stated a claim for strict liability failure to warn: (Count X)
and neghgent failure to warn (Count XI)

As prev1ously argued Defendants believe Plaintiff’s claims for rel1ef for failure to wam should fa1l
because the Complamt does not allege that Defendants owed a duty to Pla1nt1ff and Pla1nt1ﬁ fails to allege
that the non—b1odegradable ﬁlter has harmed any c1garette user. As such, a duty to warn does not exist,
because the Crty was not a user. | |

| When a product is alleged to be defect1ve because of a fa1lure to g1ve an adequate wammg, courts
have relied on Restatement (Second) of Torts § 402A wh1ch explams that “the seller is requ1red to give
warning agamst [the danger] 1f he has knowledge or by the appllcat1on of reasonable developed human _
- skill and fores1ght should have knowledge of the .. danger ? Restatement (Second) of Torts § 402A cmt. j
.( 1965) See also Owens -Illmozs Inc. v. Zenobza 325 Md. 420 (1992) The seller is not strlctly l1able for -
fa1lure to warn unless the seller has “knowledge or by the appl1cat1on of reasonable developed human sk1ll
and fores1ght should have knowledge of the presence of the danger ? Id | |

In a product hab111ty claim for strict 11ab111ty fa1lure to warn, the Plamtlff must prove that the -
defendant’s product was unreasonably dangerous asa result of the defendant s failure to warn, and that the
plamtrff was 1nJured asa prox1mate result of the fa1lure to warn thp‘pslv General Motors Corp 278 Md
337, 344 (1976) A negllgent fa1lure to warn cla1m requlres proof of those two elements and proof of an
add1t1onal element - that the defendant had a duty to warn of dangers known to it, or dangers that, in the
exercise of reasonable care, should have been known to it, and breached that duty Knowledge of the danger
of the product isa component of both cla1ms Rlchard E. Kaye Amerzcan Laws of Product Liability 3d §
: 32'25 ' Whether there isa duty to wam and the adequacy of wammgs glven must be evaluated in
connectlon wrth the knowledge and expertlse of those who may be reasonably expected to use or otherw1se
come 1nto contact w1th the product State v Exxon Mobzl Corp., 406 F. Supp 3d 420 463 (2019) (c1t1ng
Emory v McDonnell Douglas Corp., 148 F. 3d 347, 350 (4th Cir. 1998))

In support of Count X (Strlct L1ab111ty Fallure to Warn) of the Complamt Plaintiff asserts that

“Defendants’ ﬁltered cigarette products were not reasonably safe at the t1me they left their -control because
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they lacked adequate warnings and/or instructions concerning the dangers and hazards as a result of the
non—biodegradable c1garette ﬁlters Complaint at 4. They further state that the Defendants were requlred_
to 1ssue adequate warnmgs to the City of Baltimore, the public, consumers, and public ofﬁclals of the

reasonably foreseeable or knowable severe risks posed by the inevitable use and litter of their ﬁltered

‘cigarettes. Complalnt at 42, Here, Plaintiff alleges that Defendants knew, based on mformation passed to

them and/or ﬁom the screntiﬁc commumty, of the envrronmental consequences inherently caused by the

‘ nonnal use and operation of their filtered crgarettes 1nclud1ng the “llkehhood that discarded cigarette filters

would contammate the soil and ground water, pollute waterways etc.” Complaint at 42,

| They also allege that they were requ1red to warn of and instruct the plaintiff about these dangers, but
failed to .and intentionally concealed information in order to maximize profits for decades and extemalize
clean-up costs, causing continuing losses to Baltimore City. Complaint at 42. Plaintiif contends that
Defendants ‘were aware of the long—lasting negative impact that components of cigarette filters have on the
envrronment The Complamt cites to articles and mter—ofﬁce correspondence w1th1n Philhp Morrisl about
crgarette litter and what they knew Complaint at 14 n. 21-22.

In Exxon the Court acknowledged that there is “no duty to warn the world.” Exxon 406 F. Supp
3d at 463 (c1t1ng Goura’me V. Crews 405 Md. 722, 749 (2008) However, the Court further explained that
the duty to warn extends “not only to those for whose use the chattel is supphed but also to thlrd persons
whom the suppher should expect to be endangered by its use.” Exxon 406 F Supp 3d at 463 (cmng Georgia

Pacific, LLC v. Farrar 432 Md 523, 531 (2013)). As such the Court concluded that the State plau51b1y

alleged that the harm it suffered was a foreseeable result of defendants placement of MTBE gasolme into

s

to the Maryland market Furthermore due to defendants control of a substantial part of the market and

that MTBE contamination is assomated with all “transportatlon storage, and use of MTBE gasolme ” the
allegations plaus1bly establlsh that Defendants had a duty to ‘warn the State of the dangers assoc1ated w1th

r

MTBE This is the case, because they created and controlled the market for products in the State that posed

unique , substantial harms to its resources. Exxon, 406 F. Supp. 3d at 463.
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The Defendants urge th1s court to ﬁnd that there is no duty to warn the City as the Court held in
Gourdme Gourdme 405 Md. at 738. However, like the State of Maryland in Exxon, Pla1nt1ff alleges the
environmental and economic harm it suﬁ'ered was a foreseeable result of Defendants decmon to use non-
biodegradable filters.

~In Farrar, the Supreme Court of Maryland considered whether Georgia Pacific, LLC.was under a
‘duty -to protect Ms. Farrar from injury-due to any exposure she may have to asbestos fibers that were
embedded in its Ready-Mix 'compound. Georgia Pacific, LLC v. Farrer, 432 Md. 523 (2013)‘.:- In Gourdine,
the Court concluded that “[a]t its core, the determination of whether a duty exists represents a policy
question of whether the specific plaintiff is entitled to protection from the defendant.” Gourdine, 405 Md:
at 745. Further, the Court in Farrer stated:
Ultimately, the determination of whether a dutyshoul'd be imposed is made -
by weighing the various policy considerations and reaching a conclusion
that.the  plaintiff’s interests .are, or are not entitled to legal protection
against the conduct of the defendant. There is no set formula for the
determination: of whether a duty exists. Courts have applied a-
foreseeability of harm test, which is based upon the recognition that duty
must be limited to avoid liability for unreasonably remote circumstances,
and the courts have also looked at the relationship of the partles
Georgta Paczf ic 432 Md. at 529 (quoting Rosenblatt V. Exxon 335 Md. 58 77 (1994))

The Supreme Court of Maryland has provrded that where the action for product llablllty lies in a
duty to warn, the cases have tumed more d1rectly on the foreseeablllty of harm to the person to whom the
duty is alleged to owe. Patton v. US4 Rugby, 381 Md. 627, 637 (2004) The issue in Farrer is whether the
defendant should have recogmzed that household members were in a s1gn1ﬁcant zone of danger because of
toxrc dust brought home on the worker s clothmg and body Farrer 432 Md at 533 “The elements of
‘duty that [the Supreme Court of Maryland] described, especrally foreseeabrllty of danger and the ability ,
through a wamrng to amellorate that danger must be based on facts that were known or should have been
known to the defendant at the time the wammg should bave been given, not what was learned later.” Id. at

534 35.

According to the Court in Farrer,
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Restatement (Second) §3 88(a) casts liability where the supplier knows or

has reason to know that the chattel is or is likely to be dangerous.

-Comment b. to that section emphasizes that liability is for the failure to

exercise reasonable care to give to those whom he may expect to use the

chattel any information as to the character and condition of the chattel

which he possesses, and which he should recognize as necessary to enable

‘them-to realize the danger of using it.

Id. at 535. The Court also explained that the fact that an individual or class of individuals is foreseeably
within the zone of danger, though important, is not the sole criterion in determining a duty to warn, even in
a product liability case.i Id. at 540. Ultimately, the Supreme Court of Maryland found that the Appellate
Court of Maryland erred in finding that Georgia Pacific had a duty to warn Ms. Farrar, in 1968, because of
" what was known to the company in 1968 about asbestos. The Court considered “Whether in light of the
relationship (or lack of relationship) between the party alleged to have the duty and the party to whom the
duty is alleged to run, there is a feasible way of carrylng out the duty to warn and hav1ng some reason to
believe that a warning w1ll be effective ? Id. The Court went further to state that to impose a duty that
either cannot feasibly be 1mplemented or, even if implemented, would have no practical effect would be
poor public policy. Id. | .
Unlike the facts in Farrer, Plaintiff claims Defendants.knew of the toxic characteristics of its
cigarette filters for years. 'Plaintiff also states that cigarette manufacturers have acknowledged that they
have added 599 different chemicals to cigarettes. | Complaint at 13-14. They ﬁthher contend that
'Defendants ivere, and are, aware of both the “long-lasting negative impact the_components of these filters
have on theenvironrnent and the rate vi/hich their consumers litter these filters.” Complaint 14-15. Plaintiﬂ‘
further states that Defendants knew the plastic ﬁlters gave the appearance of biodegradability meamng that
smokers htter cigarette filters on the ground because smokers believe that the paper wrappers and filters
will decompcse in the environment. Complaint at 15-16. With this knowledge, it is alleged that
“Defendants failed to educate the public about the danger discarded cigarettes pose to the public and
misrepresented to Baltimore City residents' that the true compounds cf the filters are toxic to the
environment.” Complaint at 15-16. Plaintiff specifies that Defendants knew that their filters were
defective. Complaint at 14 n. 22). As a result of the failure to warn, Plaintiff alleges it has sustained

—
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substantial losses 1nclud1ng damage to publlcly owned infrastructure and real property, and damages to
public resources that interfere with the property rights of Baltimore - City Complalnt at. 46.

- The Court finds that Plaintiff ade‘quately pled failure to warn and the Motion to Dismiss for Counts
Xand X1 is denied. |

8. Whether the City has stated a claim for publlc nulsance (Count IX)

’

In its claim for relief based on publ1c nuisance, Plaintiff contends that Defendants in
| manufactunng, d1str1but1ng; marketmg and promotmg elgarettes have‘ created contributed to,
and/er assisted in creating cond1t10ns that s1gn1ﬁcantly interfere with nghts general to the pubhc
The: Defendants assert that the C1ty s claim for publ1c nuisance should fail for the followmg V
reasons: “ | -
1) AThe City has not adequately alleged that Defendants created or contributed to the alleged
public nuisance; | |
2) -The_City’s public nuisance claim.does not implicate any pnblie right;
3) The la\ivﬁll sale .ofl lawl:ul prodlicts is not a nyisance; especially when those produets
intended uses eause no harm and o | -
” 4) .The C1ty has not alleged that Defendants control the mstrumentahties that cause the alleged
nuisance at the relevant time. | | |
lA-eeo.r-ding to Exxan, Maryland has. ielied on the- deﬁnitien'of public nuisance set forth‘:in
Section 82lD iof the Restatement stating that “an Iinreasonable interference.\ivith a right common
_ to the general pubhe ” Exxon 406 F. Supp 3d at 467 (quotmg Tad]er V. Montgomery Counly, 300
Md 539 552 53) The Restatement articulates the followmg
Circumstances that may sustain a holding that an intei‘feren_ce with
a public right is unreasonable include the following: (a) whether the
conduct involves a significant interference with the public health,
* the public safety, the public. peace, the public comfort or the public -

convenience, or (b) whether the conduct is proscribed by a statute,
ordinance, or administrative regulation, or (c) whether the conduct
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isofa continurng nature or has nroduced a nermanent or long-laéting.

effect, and, as the actor knows or has reason to know, has a

_significant effect upon the public right.

Restatement (Second) of Torts §821B. In assessing a public nuisance clarm, the Court looks to
whether the challenged conduct imposes “an injury to the public at.large or to all who come‘in
contact vyith it.” Adams v. Commissioners of Toy&n of Trappe, 204 Md. 165,170 (1954).

Pollution may be _c'o‘nsidered a public nuisan‘ce.r ~ Widespread urater poliu_tion is a
quintessential public nuisance. Fxxon, E. Supp. 3d at 46!7. Pollution may also result in a public
nuisance as deﬁned in §821B, when there is interference.with a right common to aldl members of
the public-as, for example when the pollutlon kills the fishin a pubhc stream, or prevents the use
of a public bathing beach.” Id. (citing New York v. Shore Realty Corp 759 F.2d 1032 1051
(1985)).

In Erxon, Defendants argued that the State of Maryland’s public nuisance claim must be
dismissed to the extent that it is premised on their manufacture, rnarhetrng, or _supply of MTBE
gasolrne because, they did not have control‘ oyer the 'MTBE'gasoline when it was allegedly released
into the State’s waters. Slmllarly in this case, Defendants argue that they d1d not have control over
the cigarettes at the time the nuisance occurred or when it was httered However, the court in
Exxon explamed that Maryland courts .never adopted the ‘exclusive control” rule for public

nuisance 11ab111ty outlined by the Court in Cof eld v Lead Industries Assoczatzon Inc 2000 WL
| 34292681 (D. Md. Aug. 17, 2000). “To the contrary, Maryland courts have found that a defendant
who created or substantially participated irr the creation of the nuisance rnay be held liable even
though he (or it) no longer has control oyer the Vnuisance-.causing instrumentality.” Exxon, 406 F.

Supp. 3d at 468 (citing Adams v. NVR Homes, Inc., 193 ER.D. 243, 256-57 (2000)). “Tt has been

held that where the finished product of a third party constitutes a public nuisance, the third party
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| may be held liable for the creation of the public nuisance even though it no longer has control of

the product creating the public nuisance.”. Id.

: Plalntlﬁ' has adequately pled sufﬁment facts to sustain a claim for publ1c nuisance. ‘Plamtlff
alleges that Defendants by manufactunng nonblodegradable ﬁltered c1garettes contnbute to the
degradation and pollution of its natural resources. They further assert that the continued
manufacture and distribution of this product has produced a permanent and long-lasting effect by
“contaminating the City’s soil' and groundwater, _hamper .pla.nt _growth, pollute waterways,
deteriorate critical-aquatic habitats and environrnents,- and poisoning pets, wildlife, and fish, plus
the dssociated ecotiomic consequernces of those environmental impacts.’? Complaint at 45.. They
also pled that Defendants “should haVeknown based on information passedto them- and/or from
'the 501ent1ﬁc commumty, that the environmental consequences rendered the1r plastic product
dangerous, or hkely to cause damage to the City of’ Baltlmore when used as intended or a
reasonably foreseeable manner.’ Complamt at 45.

Plaintiff contends that the cigarette filter chosen by Défendants has caused, and continues
to cause,' signiﬁcantharm to the environment and that the harm outweighs any offsetting beneﬁt.'
Cornplaint at-37 They also assert l)efendant’s'conduct caused and continues -to cause permanent
harm and serlous damage to the property values and ut111ty of the res1dent1al and commerc1al
propertles in Baltlrnore C1ty 1ncreasrng crime and decreasmg the real estate property value
Complalnt at 37. In llght of the adequate facts .pled to sustaln a cla1m for public nuisance, the
Motion to Dlsrmss Count IX is denied.

9. People v. Peps:Co, Inc. o o
Defendants prov1ded this Court with the opinion for People V. PepszCo Inc. (heremafter “the

PepsiCo Opinion™), a case decided by the Supreme Court of New York, which is also a trial court. People
v. PepsiCo, Inc., 85 Misc. 3d 969 (2024). While factually similar, this opinion is not binding on this court. -
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In short, Plaintiff sought to hold Defendants PepsiCo Inc., Frito-Lay Inc., and Frito-Lay North
America (hereinafter “PepsiCo/Frito—Lay”)_ responsible for plastic pollution that has accumulated in the
Buffalo River. They argue thz;t Defendants should be responsible for the conduct of third parties who
dispose their products in the Buffalo River. PepsiCo Opinion at 2. Plaintiff relies on a survey of plastic

“pollution in 2022, which found that “PepsiCo’s plastic packaging far exceeded any other source of
identifiable i)lastic wasfe, as it was three times more abundant than the next contributor (McDonald’s).”
PepsiCo Opinion at 3. Plaintiff asserts that “as a result of PepsiCo’s and others’ persistent manufacturing,
production, diétribution, and sale of beverages and snack foods in single-use plastic packaging, single-use
plastic items have become a dorﬁinant foﬁn of pollution in urban watersheds such as the Buffalo River.” Id.
Similar to this case, Plaintiff claims the contaminants in the water endanger public health, potentially harm
freshwater species, and threaten the ecosystem. They further maintain that the pollution interferes with the
public’s use and enjoyment of the Buffalo River. Plaintiﬂ' alleges that Pepsi/Frito Lay “has long known of
the harms caused by its single-use packaging, acknowledging its website that there is a “plastic pollution

crisis’ and that its own packaging has ‘potential environmental impacts.”” Id.

PepsiCo/Frito-Lay moved to dismiss the complaint. PepsiCo/Frito-Lay argued that they should not
be held liable for acts of third parties, and they have not misled anyone about the composition of their
plastic packaging. PepsiCo Opinion at 5. With respect to the public nuisance claim, Pepsi/Frito-Lay argues
that the disposal of the plastic is not in their control and as such, cannot be construed as a public nuisance
caused or created by them. Defendants caution that courts should be careful not to impose novel theories .
~ of tort liability that are the focus of a national policy debate. In New York, a public nuisance cause of action
“exists for conduct that amounts to a substantial interference with the exercise of a common right of the
public, thereby offending public morals, interfering with the use by the public of a public place or
endangering or injuring the property, health, safety, or comfort of a .considerable number of persons.”

PepsiCo Opinion at 8.
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In PepsiCo, the Court found that Plaintiff failed to provide any evidence that Defendants knew or
should have foreseen that it could result to damage to the public. PepsiCo Opinion at 9. However, in the
case before this Court, Plaintiff cites to sources specifically addressing what Phillip Morris knew about
cigarette litter. Complaint at 14 n. 21-22, 15 n. 23. While this Court appreciates the reasoning employed
by the Supreme Court for the State of New York, the law in-Maryland regarding public nuisance is clear.
As stated in Exxon, Maryland courts have found that a defendant who created or substantially participated
in the creation of the nuisance may be held liable even if they no longer have control over the nuisance

causing instrumentality. Exxon, 406 F. Supp. 3d at 468.

With respect to duty to warn, Defendants PepsiCo/Frito-Lay érgue that the allegations in the
compléint do.not prove a duty to warn. The complaint does not establish an affirmative duty to warn the
public that the product is defective, and if used éorrectly, the environment would not be negatively
impacted. Plaintiff failed to demonstrate that the plastic packaging is inherently dangerous, and thus no

duty to warn exist. PepsiCo Opfhion at 6.

The Supreme Court of vNew'York stated thét “essential to demonstrating the viability of a public
nuisance claim is to show. that the product in question is defective or unlawful. Plaintiff has failed to
demonstrate either.” PepsiCo Opinion at 11. The Court held that Plaintiff failed to reference any statutory
obligations that Defendants have violated by producing the bottles and plastic wrappings. Absent any
e&idence» indicating that the products are deféctive or unléwful, “it is hard to ascertain any duty that
Defendants owed.” Opinion at 12. The Court is also concerned about opening tﬁe flood gates to litigation.
Stating they are “against imposing civil liability on a manufacturer for the acts of a third party, because it

is “contrary to every nbrm of established jurisprudence.” PepsiCo Opinion at 12.

The Court in Pepsiéo found there is no auty to produce a different type of plastic wrapper, or any
 affirmative duty to reduce their uée of plastics or manufacture their product 1n a different manner. It noted
that the Court of Appeals of New York held “that the imi)osition ofa dL;ty upon one unable to control the
tortfeasor would be unreasbnébly burdensome.” PepsiCo Opinion at 13 (citirig Pulkav. Edelman, 40 N.Y2d -
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781 (1976)). In Pulka, the garage operator was not liable for the actions of a drive who ignored warnings
or other precautions. Thus, the PepsiCo Court reasoned that PepsiCo/Frito-Lay could not be liable for the
acts of others who ignore recycling invitations. In addition, the Court cannot punish Defendants for the
acts of third parties who ignore laws prohibiting littering. The case law of New York does not impose a

duty on a manufacturer to refrain from the lawful distribution of a non-defective product.

Unlike in PepsiCo, Plaintiff in this case specifies that Defendant knew the filters were defective.
Plaintiff cites correspondence within Phillip Morris, regarding defective cigarette filters, and inter-office -
communications. Complaint at 14 n. 22, 15 n. 23. In Maryland, a claim for strict liability failure to warn
requires the plaintiff to prove the defendant’s product was unreasonably dapgerous as a result of the
defendant’s failure to warn, and that the plaintiff was injured as a proximate result of the failure to warn. A
negligent failure to warn claim requires proof of those two elements and proof of an additional element,
that the defendant had a duty to warn of dangers known or dangers, that in the exercise of reasonable care,
should have been known to it, and breached that duty. Maryland courts consider the foreseeability of danger
and the ability of a warning to ameliorate that danger, based on fac.ts known to the defendant at the time the
warning should have been given. Like New York courts, Maryland courts do not only consider

 foreseeability.

In this case, Plaintiff adequately pled the elements of both strict and negligent failure to warn.

CONCLUSION

In conclusion, the Mayor and the City of Baltimore, through the Complaint, seek to hold
tobacco companies accountable for the pervasive cigarette filter litter that fhey assert litters the
’ streets, sidewalks, beaches, parks, and lawns of Baltimore City. According to Plaintiff, most
smokers believe these filters are biodegradable because of their appearance. However, Plaintiff
contends that most cigarette filters are made of a “nonbiodegradable material called cellulose

acetate.” This substance never disappears and seeps into water and soil. Complaint at 4.
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Defendants, the rﬁanufécturers and distributors of cigarettes, argue that the environmental

'harm is an.uhforeseeable coﬁsequence of manufacturing cigarettes and that they should not be held-
'liable for the acf_s of third-party _cor‘lsum,ersiwhom they have no control over. The New York
Supreme Court agrees i_with Defe_ndahts. In_Peoplq v. PepsiCo:, the New York Attoméy Geﬁeral

-sought to. holdA Defendants liable for single use;'vpl_as,tic wrappings liﬁer discarded in the Buffalo
River. The New York Supreme Court dismissed fhe case.in its‘ entirety, in part because Plaintiff

faiieq to prove th;:_ Defendants violated any stat_q_tes by using thc plastic wyapping_s. It é}lso reasoned -

fhat where the leg_i’sl;ltu_re has fai1¢d to ené_c“c laws to p;ecludé séid Condl}pf, 1;116 courts shéuld refrain

frq.rr; interfering m ‘pqlicy‘i debates. Pébple V. \PepsiCo, Inc., 85 Misc.A3_c“_1>§'69 (2024). However,

whether this Cquﬁ agrees with'»thc;, reasoning in the People v PepsiCo I;szc, i-s of no cqnsequep’ce,'

and only théA laws of the State of Maryland are binding upon this court.

In accordance with the analysis above, the Mayér,and City of Baltimore’s claims arevnot
preempted by State law because Plaintiff does not endeavor to bﬁeate.,new laws -through this.
Complaint. and\ the statute cited. by Defendants -addressps ﬁre pf.evention and safe‘ty, not
environmental, Standaxds. Further, the Complaint preempted by federal law-because it does not
estgblis_h a new r:equireinent. Rafch_er, Plaintiff seeks compensatory daméggs, equitab}e relief,
crimli_'ngl. penalties, ApunitiVe_ damages, and injunctive reliéﬁ Inl addition, the Family _Smoking
Prevention and Tobacco ‘Co'ntrolﬂA_ct-of 2009 ;i;)es ndot prg:é}pd_e claims arising out of product
staﬁqus and does not prohibit a political subdivi.sion‘fromle‘:nforci‘ng any'regulation that is-'in
gddition toor ﬁdre_‘stringent thap }rc_:qli,liremrent_sﬂin ’Fhat paﬁiculm statute’.J F ur_thermore, the Federal
Cigarette Labeling anél Advertising Act addresses c_igérette labeling and advertisir;g rélated to

srhoking and public health, not dangers to the environment.
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In additidn;"théée claims are not precluded by.the Master Settlément Agreement. .. The
powers of the Attorney General are limited to _thosé enumerated in the Maryland Constituﬁon,* and
thé Annotated Code. = While- Governor Farris Glendening authorized the Maryland Attorney
General to pursue this cldim on behalf of the State, the Attorney General did not have the authority
to release ¢laimé on behalf of Baltimore City. Moreover, the MSA does not confer any additional

authority on the Attorneys Generals than they have pursuant to their respéctivé states’ regulations.

' li\Ionlc-theles‘s,. rDefendants’ Motion to Dismiss Counts I through IV is granted. In’Couln‘t I,
Plaintiff failed to comply With the M'arylandv Rule'§ 4-202 regmdiﬁg the contents of a charging
document. In Counts I through Count 1V, Plaintiff failed to comply w1th B;iltimoré City Héalfh
Code because Plaintiff failed to prove that they issued a civil or environmental citation placing -
Defendants on no'ticel of the fegulatioﬁs they éllégedly violated. BALT. CIT? CoDE, HEALTH § 7-
631. Additionally, the Complaint does‘ not comply with Balﬁmore City Code, Article 1, § 40-7 or
Article 1, § 41.5(b) because it does not includé the information required in'a citation such as the
time within which a person must pay the fine for the violation or'request a hearing, nof does it
include the time and place where the violation occurred. |

As to Count V (Viblation of the Baltiﬁore City Codé'§ 7-702) of fhe Compiaiht, thére is
no evidence that*Plalintiff rrie'p the requifemgnt of fhé Code. Accordin_g to'§ 7-705,{a‘ violation of
this code may be enforced by issuance of an eﬁvironmeﬂtél citation or a civil bitatibﬁ. Althdugh
Plaintiff argues that the process is not exclusivé, the sta-tut‘e: speaks t§ the process fo Be em;;losfed;
' and it glsé requires that Plaintiff comply with Article 1, § 40-7 or Article 1, § 41.5(b) of the

Baltimore City Code. - - -
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The Motion to Dismiss Count VI (Continuing Trespass) is granted. Plaintiff has produced
insufficient facts to suppbrt an inference that Defendants entered the land or commanded a third

party to enter the land in possession of another.

Further, Plaintiff adequately pled causation. Foreseeability is the “touchstone in any

determination of proximate, intervening, and superseding cause,” which courts have held is to be

decided by the trier of fact. Collins v. Li, 176 Md. App. 502, 536 (2007).

In addition', Plaintiff has stated a claim for Counts VII and VIII. Although Plaintiff does
not consume or use the product, Maryland courts recognize bystander recovery in product liability
cases and “have never limited recovery in strict liability for design defect to ultimate users of the
product.” State v. Exxon Mobile Corp., 406 F. Supp. 3d 420, 461 (2019).

Furthermore, the' Motion to Dismiss for Count IX is denied. Maryland courts recognize
that pollution may result in a public nuisance. The Motion to Dismiss counts X and XI is also
denied, as Plaintiffs adequately pled strict liability failure to warn and negligent failure to warn.
Maryland courts require that in actions involving product liability for failure to warn, courts
determine the foreseeability of harm to the person to whom the alleged duty is owed. As stated
earlier, this duty is based on facts known or that should have been known to the defendant at the
time the warning should have been given. Plaintiff asserts that Defendants knew that cigarette
smokers would litter the cigarette filters on the ground because they mistakenly believed it was
biodegradable. They also assert that the companies had knowledge of the harm these filters cause
to the environment and failed to adequately warn the public of the fefect.

AN

/<Dania M. Middleton, Judge
Circuit Court for Baltimore City

Entered: Clerk, Circuit Court for
Baltimore City, MD
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